In the

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal-First Appellate District, Division Two

A133177

Superior Court of the County of Marin CIV 060796 Hon. James R. Ritchie

DANIELLE BOURHIS et al.

Plaintiffs and Appellants

v.

JOHN LORD et al

Defendants and Respondents

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Edward R. Hugo [Bar No. 124839]
Heidi K. Hugo (SBN 124846)
Jeffrey Kaufman (SBN 48095)
BRYDON HUGO & PARKER
135 Main Street, Suite 2000
San Francisco, CA 94105
Telephone: (415) 808-0300
Facsimile: (415) 808-0333
Attorneys for Defendants and Respondents and Petitioners
JOHN LORD, KATE LORD, AND Q-TIP TRUST OF THE LORD JUNE 30, 1989 TRUST

In the

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Does an invalid appeal filed by a "suspended" corporation get retroactively validated by revival of corporate status after the appeal period has expired?

Plaintiff and Appellant below, BROWN EYED GIRL, INC., a California corporation ("Appellant" or "BEG"), filed its notice of appeal during the time its corporate status was "Suspended" by the Secretary of State for failure to pay taxes and file tax returns. After the time for appealing had expired, and after Defendants and Respondents below had moved to dismiss the appeal, Appellant revived its corporate status. The Court of Appeal denied the motion. (See Order bound at end of the Petition For Hearing). By its citation to two Supreme Court cases it implicitly ruled that the revival validated the prior filing of the notice of appeal, even though in the interim the Judgment had become final by reason of the lack of a proper notice of appeal during the appeal period, and rights of res judicata had vested in Respondents. However, it also cited another Court of Appeal decision questioning the inconsistency between these cases and another Supreme Court case holding that revival did not extend statutes of limitations and leaving "the resolution of this apparent inconsistency to the Supreme Court." That apparent inconsistency between Supreme Court decisions is the issue presented in this matter.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant BEG is a California Corporation. Judgment was entered against it (and other Appellants not involved herein) on April 5, 2011, and

was served on April 6, 2011. Notice of Appeal from this Judgment by all Appellants was filed on May 26, 2011.¹

After the Judgment was entered, the trial court entered two Orders awarding costs and attorneys' fees to Respondents. These Orders were both entered and served on August 20, 2011. On September 13, 2011, Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal from those two orders. That appeal is the subject of this appellate action.

At the times Appellant BEG filed both Notices of Appeal, the Secretary of State's records reflected that its corporate status had been "Suspended" since June 1, 2009. Respondents below, JOHN LORD, KATE LORD, and Q-TIP TRUST OF THE LORD JUNE 30, 1988 TRUST (collectively the "Respondents"), moved to dismiss each of the appeals on the ground that BEG lacked the capacity to appeal and the appeal period had expired. According to Appellant BEG, effective December 8, 2011, after the appeal periods had expired, and after the motions were filed, BEG revived its corporate status. On December 29, 2011, the Court of Appeal denied each of the motions, citing *Rooney v. Vermont Investment Corp.* (1973) 10 Cal.3d 351, and *Peacock Hill Assn. v. Peacock Lagoon Constr. Co.* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 369, without any discussion of these cases.

The Court of Appeal also added "see *ABA Recovery Services, Inc. v. Konold* (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 720, 725, fn.2." That footnote pointed out the inconsistency between *Rooney's* holding that filing a notice of appeal was a "procedural" step and a prior Supreme Court decision stating that the statute of limitations was substantive.

¹ That appeal in the Court of Appeal is No. A133136, and is the subject of a Action S199889 pending before this Court as to which hearing has been granted. After filing of the Petitions for Review in this matter and Action S199889, the Court of Appeal granted a motion to consolidate the appeals pending before it.

Apparently, the Supreme Court in *Rooney* considered the filing of a notice of appeal a "procedural" step which could be retroactively validated by revivor whereas the Supreme Court in *Traub* did not include in its holding those cases where the statute of limitations was raised as a defense. We question why the timely filing of a notice of appeal, which is jurisdictional and cannot be waived, is a procedural act unaffected by a corporation's suspension, while the statute of limitations, which is not jurisdictional and can be waived, is a substantive defense fatal to a suspended corporation's cause of action. However, we leave the resolution of this apparent inconsistency to the Supreme Court.

(ABA Recovery Services, Inc v. Konold (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 720, 725, fn.2 (emphasis added)).

By its citation to this footnote, the Court of Appeal below similarly left it to this Court to resolve this apparent inconsistency.

The Court of Appeal orders are reviewable. (Rule 8.500, California Rules of Court, and Advisory Committee Comment on Subdivision (a)(1)). The orders became final thirty (30) days after filing. (Rule 8.264, and Advisory Committee Comment to Rule 8.500, Subdivision (e)). A timely Petition for Review was filed. (Rule 8.500(e), California Rules of Court). This Court granted review on March 21, 2012.

III. BACKGROUND FACTS

Appellant sued its landlord, Respondent Q-TIP TRUST OF THE LORD JUNE 30, 1988 TRUST, and the other Respondents for property damage caused by the flooding of a creek that was not on Respondent's property. Respondents JOHN LORD and KATE LORD were granted non-suits, and the jury rendered a 12-0 verdict for Respondent Q-TIP TRUST

OF THE LORD JUNE 30, 1988 TRUST. Judgment on the operative complaint for all Respondents and against all Appellants was entered on April 5, 2011, and served on April 6, 2011. Notice of Appeal from that Judgment was filed by Appellants on May 26, 2011, and is the subject of Court of Appeal No. A132136 and Supreme Court No. S199889.

After the Judgment was entered, the trial court entered two Orders awarding costs and attorneys' fees to Respondents. These Orders were both entered and served on August 20, 2011. Notice of Appeal from those orders was filed on September 13, 2011, and is the subject of Court of Appeal No. 133177 and this appellate action.

Shortly prior to trial Respondents became aware that BEG's corporate status was "Suspended" for failure to pay corporate taxes for 2007, 2008, and 2009. (See Respondents' Motion to Strike Notice of Appeal and Dismiss Appeal of BEG, filed in the Court of Appeal [hereinafter "Motion to Dismiss"]. Attached as Exhibit 2 to that Motion to Dismiss is Defendants' Motion In Limine No. 6 to preclude Brown-Eyed Girl, Inc. from Offering any Evidence at Trial, which was filed in the trial court. See Exhibit A to Exhibit 2, and Exhibit B to Exhibit 2 at pages 75:11-19). BEG had also failed to file income tax returns for those years. (See Exhibit B to Exhibit 2 at page 25:21-24). The default was intentional, as BEG felt there was no rush to file the returns and to pay the State of California the money that was owed because BEG perceived that it was not subject to any penalty for not doing so. (See Exhibit B to Exhibit 2 at pages 25:25-26:6). At the same time it sought to enjoy the benefits and protections of the California court system, funded by other tax payers. Respondents moved the trial court in limine to preclude BEG from offering evidence at trial. (Exhibit 2 to Motion to Dismiss).

The trial court allowed BEG an opportunity to cure its default (Exhibit 3 to the Motion to Dismiss), and a few days later, on October 12, 2010, BEG represented to the trial court that it had taken the actions necessary to do so, subject to "bureaucratic steps". (Exhibit 4 to Motion to Dismiss). On that basis it was allowed to proceed to trial.

After the Notices of Appeal were filed, Respondents learned that in fact the "Suspended" status had not been lifted for the trial or for the time thereafter when BEG filed its Notices of Appeal. The Certificate of Status obtained from the Secretary of State listed the status as "FTB Suspended" from June 1, 2009, which means "The domestic entity's powers, rights and privileges were suspended in California by the California Franchise Tax Board for failure to meet franchise tax requirements (e.g., failure to file a return, pay taxes, etc.)." (Exhibit 1 to Motion to Dismiss). Under California law, BEG was not authorized to file or to pursue the appeals.

Respondents moved to dismiss the appeals of BEG. Appellant opposed the Motions to Dismiss arguing that its corporate status was revived on December 8, 2011, which was after the appeal periods had expired and after the motions had been made. The Court of Appeal denied the motions.

IV. ARGUMENT

As the Court of Appeal noted in *ABA Recovery Services, Inc. v. Konold* (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 720, 725, fn.2, there is an apparent inconsistency in the Supreme Court cases as to the effect given a revival of corporate powers. The background of this issue is as follows:

A. BEG's Notices Of Appeal While Its Corporate Status Was Suspended Are A Nullity

Revenue & Taxation Code § 23301 was enacted to deprive recalcitrant tax payers like BEG from holding onto their money while they enjoy state services paid by others. It provides:

Except for the purposes of filing an application for exempt status or amending the articles of incorporation as necessary either to perfect that application or to set forth a new name, the corporate powers, rights and privileges of a domestic taxpayer may be suspended, and the exercise of corporate powers, rights and privileges of a foreign taxpayer in this state may be forfeited, if any of the following conditions occur::

- (a) If any tax, penalty, or interest, or any portion thereof, that is due and payable under Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 19001) of Part 10.2, or under this part, either at the time the return is required to be filed or on or before the 15th day of the ninth month following the close of the taxable year, is not paid on or before 6 p.m. on the last day of the 12th month after the close of the taxable year.
- (b) If any tax, penalty, or interest, or any portion thereof, due and payable under Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 19001) of Part 10.2, or under this part, upon notice and demand from the Franchise Tax Board, is not paid on or before 6 p.m. on the last day of the 11th month following the due date of the tax.
- (c) If any liability, or any portion thereof, which is due and payable under Article 7 (commencing with Section 19131) of Chapter 4 of Part 10.2, is not paid on or before 6 p.m. on the last day of the 11th month following the date that the tax liability is due and payable.

(See also, Revenue & Taxation Code §§23301.5 and 23302).

The purpose of this section is to encourage the payment of taxes. (Cadle Company v. World Wide Hospitality Furniture, Inc. (2006) 144 Cal. App. 4th 504, 512). Cases uniformly hold that pursuant to this section a "Suspended" domestic corporation cannot prosecute or defend actions in court. (Domato v. Slevin (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 668, 672; Gar-Lo, Inc. v. Prudential Sav. & Loan Assn. (1974) 41 Cal.App.3d 242, 244-45).

In addition, the fact of a corporation's suspension can be raised at any time, even right before trial or after appeal. (*Ocean Park etc. Co. v. Pacific Auto P. Co.* (1940) 37 Cal. App. 2d 158; *Reed v. Norman* (1957) 48 Cal. 2d 338, 343; *Cadle Company v. World Wide Hospitality Furniture, Inc.* (2006) 144 Cal. App. 4th 504, 511-12).

Here, Appellant was fully aware of the issue and the consequences because Respondents raised the matter before trial. The trial court gave Appellant an opportunity to cure the default, and Appellant represented it had been cured. On that basis Appellant was allowed to proceed with trial. Thus, Appellant was on actual notice of the need to maintain BEG's status in good standing. It failed to do so.

The cases hold that a suspended corporation cannot appeal from an adverse judgment, and if it does its appeal should be dismissed. In *Boyle v. Lakeview Creamery Co.* (1937) 9 Cal.2d 16, the Supreme Court dismissed an appeal of a suspended corporation, saying:

The statute expressly deprives the corporation of all 'corporate powers, rights and privileges,' subject to one exception, which is specifically set forth, the right to amend the articles to change the name. As the court declared in *Ransome-Crummey Co. v. Superior Court, supra*, 188 Cal. 393, 397, 205 P. 446, 448: 'During the time its taxes were unpaid, petitioner was shorn of all rights save those expressly reserved by the statutes.' The conclusion which we are forced to draw is that the appellant corporation has lost the right to defend the suit in question, and since it has no right to defend, it has no right to appeal from an adverse decision.

(Id. at 20).

This ruling was followed, and the appeal dismissed, in *Ocean Park Bath House & Amusement Company v. Pacific Auto Park Co.* (1940) 37 Cal.

App. 2d 158; and *Gar-Lo, Inc. v. Prudential Sav. & Loan Assn.* (1974) 41 Cal.App.3d 242, 245 ("Taking an appeal from an adverse judgment of the superior court is one of the privileges which the law denies to a domestic corporation suspended under section 23301"); and the principal was repeated in *Reed v. Norman* (1957) 48 Cal. 2d 338, 343.

This rule was again reaffirmed in *Traub Co. v. Coffee Break Service, Inc.* (1967) 66 Cal.2d 368. While holding that a suspension after a complaint was filed but before rendition of judgment did not render the judgment subject to collateral attack once it became final, the Supreme Court distinguished the facts before it from those in a number of other cases.

Our holding with respect to the final judgment here attacked is to be distinguished from cases holding that a suspended corporation not shown to have been reinstated lacks the right or capacity to defend an action or to appeal from an adverse decision. [Citing *Boyle, Ocean Park,* and *Reed*].

(Id. at 371).

Also important, *Traub* noted that acts by a suspended corporation can create jurisdictional issues:

Ransome-Crummey Co. v. Superior Court (1922) 188 Cal. 393, 397—399, 205 P. 446, dealt with the special jurisdictional problems incident to a motion for new trial, and the court was careful to point out that although the corporation's motion was a nullity because the notice thereof had been given at a time its corporate powers were suspended, the holding to that effect was without prejudice to further proceedings had after reinstatement of the corporation.

(Id. at 372).

In *Ransome*, the Supreme Court held that a suspended corporation could not give notice of intent to move for a new trial which was

"necessary to confer jurisdiction on the court to entertain the subsequent proceedings. Such a notice may not be waived, and is not waived, by the voluntary appearance of the adverse party." (*Ransome-Crummey Co. v. Superior Court* (1922) 188 Cal. 393, 398).

Applying these clear authorities to the situation here, BEG had no standing or capacity to file a notice of appeal and its act of doing so was a nullity. Its suspended status deprived it of all corporate powers to prosecute or defend litigation. It could not take advantage of the court system being funded by collection of taxes from others while it failed to pay its taxes and/or file its tax returns.

B. BEG's Reinstatement After The Appeal Period Had Expired Could Not Validate Its Notices of Appeal

Suspended corporations have the ability to be reinstated, but "such reinstatement shall be without prejudice to any action, defense or right which has accrued by reason of the original suspension or forfeiture." (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 23305a). When the suspension results in substantive rights, such as occurs when no valid notice of appeal is filed during the appeal period, reinstatement cannot validate the previously invalid notice of appeal.

Many cases have described the effect of the revival statute by saying that while procedural acts may be validated by revival of corporate powers, substantive defenses that accrued during the period of suspension cannot be defeated by corporate revival. (See, e.g., Welco Construction, Inc. v. Modulux, Inc. (1975) 47 Cal.App.3d 69, 73; ABA Recovery Services, Inc. v. Konold (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 720, 724; Benton v. County of Napa (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1485, 1490). This rule has repeatedly been applied to statutes

of limitations that expired during the period of suspension, resulting in holdings that the statute of limitations is a substantive defense which is not defeated by corporate revival.

In ABA Recovery Services, plaintiff corporation filed an action while it was suspended, the statute of limitations period then expired, after which plaintiff revived its status. The court held that the statute of limitations is a substantive defense which accrued by its running during the period of the plaintiff corporation's suspension and thus that defense could not be prejudiced by revival of the suspended corporation. "[W]here a substantive defense accrues during corporate suspension, a corporate revival will not prejudice that defense." (198 Cal.App.3d at 724. Accord: Sade Shoe Co. v. Oschin & Snyder (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 1509, 1513 n.2; Welco Construction, Inc. v. Modulux, Inc. (1975) 47 Cal.App.3d 69, 73-74.).

This rule was again reaffirmed very recently in *Friends of Shingle Springs Interchange, Inc. v. County of El Dorado* (Nov. 22, 2011) 200 Cal. App. 4th 1470. There a suspended non-profit corporation filed an action while it was suspended and attempting to comply with revival requirements. It was revived effective two days after a 90 day statute of limitations period expired. A demurrer for lack of legal capacity to sue and on the statute of limitations was sustained. The Court of Appeal affirmed. It held a suspended corporation "lacks standing to sue and statutes of limitations are not tolled." (*Id.* at 1486). "The suit is ineffective because of the suspension, so the statute continues to run." (*Id.* at 1487). "'If the statute runs out prior to revival of a corporation's powers, the corporation's actions will be time barred even if the complaint would otherwise have been timely.'" (*Id.*). Substantial compliance with the revival requirements could not be allowed to defeat the statutes of limitations applicable to the

land use matters there involved which were made purposefully short to achieve certainty and finality.

The same rule should apply to the filing of an appeal while suspended. Just as the failure to file a valid complaint prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations creates substantive rights and defenses, so too does the failure to file a valid notice of appeal prior to expiration of the appeal period. Like the statute of limitations, the running of the period for filing an appeal bars the appeal. In fact, it is jurisdictional. Appellate courts have no jurisdiction to entertain appellate review or writ review from an appealable judgment or order from which a timely appeal was not taken. (Marriage of Weiss (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 106, 119; Code of Civil Procedure §906; Norman I. Krug Real Estate Investments, Inc. v. Praszker (1990) 220 Cal. App.3d 35, 46 ("'If a judgment or order is appealable, an aggrieved party must file a timely appeal or forever lose the opportunity to obtain appellate review." (emphasis in original)); Mauro B. v. Superior Court (1991) 230 Cal. App.3d 949, 952 (appealable judgment not reviewable by writ after expiration of appeal period)). A reviewing court may not relieve a party from default in failing to file a timely notice of appeal. (Rule 8.60(d), California Rules of Court).

Further, a valid appeal can only be taken by one with standing, and this requirement, too, is jurisdictional and cannot be waived. (*Sabi v. Sterling* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 916, 947); *Marsh v. Mountain Zephyr, Inc.* (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 289, 295). A suspended corporation, "shorn of all rights", has no standing to file a notice of appeal. (*Friends of Shingle Springs Interchange, Inc. v. County of El Dorado, supra*, 200 Cal.App.4th at 1486; *ABA Recovery Services, Inc. v. Konold* (1988) 198 Cal.App.3d 720, 724).

Moreover, the failure to file a timely appeal renders the judgment final and binding. (*Marriage of Weiss* (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 106, 119). The issues decided in an appealable judgment from which no timely appeal is taken are *res judicata*, creating rights and defenses for the prevailing party as of the date the appeal period expired. (*In re Matthew C.* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 386, 393 ("If an order is appealable, however, and no timely appeal is taken there from, the issues determined by the order are res judicata.")). Suspended corporations cannot have the right no other party has to hold the finality of a judgment in limbo, and effectively extend its time to appeal, until it decides to revive its powers. Nor can it have the power to "definalize" a judgment. It is neither fair nor serves the purpose of encouraging corporations to pay their taxes to let defaulting corporation's slide until they are caught and then allow them to wash away all effects of their delinquency without consequence. This result only serves to discourage timely payment of taxes.

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