<u>\$199887/</u>\$199889 (consolidated)

IN THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT

DANIELLE BOURHIS, ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

MAY 1 5 2012

JOHN LORD, ET AL.,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Defendants and Respondents.

DeputyCRC 8.25(b)

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIV. TWO; A132136 AND A133177 ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF MARIN COUNTY CASE NO. CIV 060796 HON. JAMES R. RITCHIE, JUDGE

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RAY BOURHIS, ESQ. (SBN 53196) LAWRENCE MANN, ESQ.

(SBN 83698)

BOURHIS & MANN

1050 Battery St.,

San Francisco, CA 94111

Tel: 415.392.4660

Fax: 415.421.0259

DANIEL U. SMITH (SBN 43100)

VALERIE T. MCGINTY

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

DISCUSSION

T.

BEG's revivor required the notice of appeal to be validated and the motion to dismiss to be denied.

Respondents ask this Court to penalize BEG for its temporary suspension by dismissing this appeal—a penalty that will do nothing to fulfill statutory tax policies because BEG's taxes have already been paid and BEG is now in good standing but which will give respondents the undeserved windfall of avoiding appellate review of a judgment that erroneously insulated respondents from liability for their failure to disclose a serious flood hazard that was known to respondents but was unknown to plaintiffs before plaintiffs leased respondents' premises.

As shown below, dismissal of this appeal would be contrary to two of this Court's decisions directly on point, decisions that properly reflect the trend of statutory and decisional law over the past 100 years. This Court should adhere to current precedent and current tax policy and deny respondents the undeserved windfall they seek.

- A. Statutes and case law compelled the denial of respondents' motion to dismiss.
 - Under former law, corporations with unpaid taxes were harshly penalized by involuntary dissolution.

Respondents' quest to dismiss this appeal—in effect penalizing BEG because it was temporarily suspended—smacks of the harshness of a former era.

In this former era, corporations with unpaid taxes were regarded as "dead" and were treated harshly by involuntary dissolution. As this court has recognized, under former law nonpayment of corporate taxes caused "corporate charters or powers [to be] forfeited" under the "former California statute (Act of 1905; Stats. 1905, p. 493)

with respect to domestic corporations (see Rossi v. Caire (1921) 186 Cal. 544, 549; Graceland v. Peebler, 50 Cal.App.2d 545, 547-548; Southern Land Co. v. McKenna (1929) 100 Cal.App. 152, 159" Traub Co. v. Coffee Break Service, Inc. (1967) 66 Cal.2d 368, 371.

The harshness of former law was well-summarized in Justice Mosk's dissent in *Peacock Hill Association*:

Under early California statutes, upon failure to pay taxes the powers of a delinquent corporation were forfeited, the corporation was dissolved, and it came under the control of trustees, with the result that the corporation itself could not sue or be sued, and a summons served upon it or a judgment rendered against it was void. . . . "The penalty imposed by the act for non-payment of the license tax prescribed was exceedingly severe and the consequence doubtless often disastrous. . . . [T]he corporation having failed to pay within the specified time thereafter, the corporation simply ceased to exist, . . . without any existing provision of law for rehabilitation as a corporation. It was not a case simply of suspended animation, as under present license tax law, but one of absolute death. . . .

Id. at p. 375 (citing Rossi v. Caire (1921) 186 Cal. 544, 549).

The harshness of former law's catastrophic penalty—dissolution—for delinquent corporations, regardless of revivor, was noted by this Court in Ransome-Crummey Co. v. Superior Court in and for Santa Clara County (1922) 188 Cal. 393.

Before the enactment of these statutes, the penalty imposed upon a corporation for a failure to pay its license and franchise taxes was a forfeiture of its charter (Stats. 1905, p. 493, and amendments thereto; Stats. 1911, p. 530; Stats. 1915, p. 422), which resulted in a dissolution of the corporation. (Lewis v. Miller & Lux, 156 Cal. 101.) After such a

forfeiture the corporation was governed by the rules relating to dissolved corporations, and all actions prosecuted by or against such a corporation abated, except in those cases where an action against the corporation survived by the terms of section 10a of the act of 1905, as amended in 1907. (*Brandon v. Umpqua L. & T. Co.*, 166 Cal. 322.

Id. at 396.

Further, under former law, corporate revival could not retroactively validate acts taken by the corporation during its temporary suspension. As this Court said in 1922:

Furthermore, we are of the opinion that the subsequent revival of the corporate rights, powers, and privileges did not have the effect of validating the acts attempted during the period of suspension. The revival is not made retroactive by the statute. The suspension of the rights, powers, and privileges is a disability imposed on a corporation as a penalty, and it would tend to deprive the statute of its force and encourage a corporation in default to postpone payment of its taxes indefinitely if it were held that by subsequent payment of the delinquent taxes all the benefits of the attempted acts denied to the corporation could be secured.

Id. at 398.

Respondents' request to deny retroactive validation of the notice of appeal and to dismiss the appeal, despite BEG's revivor, is a retrograde return to the harshness of prior law, and so should be rejected. Under current law, the order denying dismissal correct recognized the retroactive validation of the notice of appeal, as shown below.

- 2. Current law does not penalize corporations after they are revived. The "purpose" of current law is solely to "pressure" corporations to pay their taxes. After that payment, prior acts are validated because no need exists to impose further penalty.
 - a. Case law recognizes the sole goal of getting delinquent corporations to pay their taxes and avoiding penalties on revived corporations.

In recent decades, courts have recognized that the core purpose of the Revenue & Taxation Code is not to dissolve delinquent corporations but to "pressure" corporations to collect back taxes—nothing more. After the taxes are paid, there is no point in "imposing additional penalties."

The shift from the harshness of former law to the tolerant attitude of current law—allowing retroactive validation of prior acts taken during suspension—was well-summarized in *Damato v. Slevin* (1989) 214 Cal.App. 668:

California originally adopted a harsh attitude toward delinquent corporate taxpayers: "the penalty imposed upon a corporation for a failure to pay its license and franchise taxes was a forfeiture of its charter [citations], which resulted in a dissolution of the corporation." (Ransome-Crummey Co. v. Superior Court (1922) 188 Cal. 393, 396.) With time, the Legislature's hostility gradually relaxed. Following this lead, courts no longer treated suspended corporations as pariahs. . . . [C]ourts have given the curative effect of revivor an expansive construction. Indeed, the present judicial attitude is positively benign. "In a number of situations the revival of corporate powers by the payment of delinquent taxes has been held to validate otherwise invalid prior action.... [A]s to matters occurring prior to judgment the revival of corporate powers has the effect of validating the earlier acts and

permitting the corporation to proceed with the action." [Citations.]
Revivor may even be demonstrated during the pendency of an appeal.
[Citations.] Revivor and validation are akin to the "relation back" of amended pleadings. [Citation.]

Id. at pp. 672-673 (fn. omitted).

The retroactive validation allowed under current law was recognizes by this Court in *Peacock Hill*:

In a number of situations the revival of corporate powers by the payment of delinquent taxes has been held to validate otherwise invalid prior action. (Traub Co. v. Coffee Break Service, Inc., 66 Cal.2d 368, 370; Diverco Constructors, Inc. v. Wilstein, 4 Cal. App. 3d 6, 12; A.E. Cook Co. v. K S Racing Enterprises, Inc., 274 Cal.App.2d 499, 500; Duncan v. Sunset Agricultural Minerals, 273 Cal.App.2d 489, 493.) In all of the above cited cases it was held that the purpose of section 23301 of the Revenue and Taxation Code is to put pressure on the delinquent corporation to pay its taxes, and that purpose is satisfied by a rule which views a corporation's tax delinquencies, after correction, as mere irregularities. This reasoning is in accord with our language in Boyle v. Lakeview Creamery Co., 9 Cal.2d 16, declaring the legislative policy of Revenue and Taxation Code provisions imposing sanctions for failure to pay taxes to be 'clearly to prohibit the delinquent corporation from enjoying the ordinary privileges of a going concern, in order that some pressure will be brought to bear to force the payment of taxes.' (At p. 19 [68 P.2d 968].) There is little purpose in imposing additional penalties after the taxes have been paid.

Peacock Hill Assoc. v. Peacock Lagoon Construction Co. (1972) 8 Cal.3d 369, 371 (emphasis added) (corporation suspended after judgment for nonpayment of franchise

taxes could pursue appeal after it paid the delinquent tax, interest and penalties and received its certificate of revivor].

Moreover, as this Court has said, "a plea of lack of capacity of a corporation to maintain an action by reason of a suspension of corporate powers for nonpayment of taxes 'is a plea in abatement which is not favored in law, is to be strictly construed and must be supported by facts warranting the abatement' at the time of the plea."

(Traub Co. v. Coffee Break Service, Inc. (1967) 66 Cal.2d 368, 370).

b. The Revenue & Taxation Code allows retroactive validation of procedural acts where temporary suspension did not create a defense or right.

BEG's revivor by payment of its back taxes was authorized by section 23305, which provides that a suspended corporation may be "relieved" of the suspension by payment of back taxes and penalties and "the issuance by the Franchise Tax Board of a certificate of revivor."

The only limitation on "relief" from suspension is that "reinstatement shall be without prejudice to any action, defense or right which has accrued by reason of the original suspension or forfeiture" Section 23305a.

As explained below, BEG's notice of appeal was timely and thus valid, establishing in respondents no "defense or right," for several reasons.

First, respondents were entitled to assert a "plea in abatement," but a "plea in abatement" does not render the notice of appeal invalid, is disfavored, and defeated here by BEG's payment of taxes and revivor before the Court of Appeal rendered its ruling.

Second, the notice of appeal was a "procedural" act that this Court and others have for decades ruled must be retroactively validated after the corporation pays its taxes and is reinstated.

Third, under the California Constitution, Art. VI, section 13, BEG has a constitutional right to have the adverse judgment reviewed on appeal and reversed for a "miscarriage of justice." Respondents' claim that the notice of appeal cannot be retroactively validated by a revived corporation that is in all respects in full compliance with the law must be rejected as violative of BEG's constitutional right to appellate review.

3. This Court twice retroactively validated notices of appeal.

a. Peacock Hill Association.

In Peacock Hill Assoc. v. Peacock Lagoon Construction Co. (1972) 8 Cal.3d 369, the defendant corporation was suspended before trial, lost the judgment, and then appealed. Id. at p. 374. On appeal, the plaintiff sought to have the suspended corporation's appeal dismissed. The defendant corporation responded by paying its taxes and obtaining revivor. Id. at pp. 371, 374.

This Court denied the motion to dismiss, stating the rationale that "the revival of corporate powers has the effect of validating the earlier acts and permitting the corporation to proceed with the action," and "[w]e are satisfied that the same rule should ordinarily apply with respect to matters occurring subsequent to judgment." *Id.* at p. 373.

Contrary to respondents' claim, this ruling needs no "clarification."

b. Rooney

In Rooney v. Vermont Investment Corp. (1973) 10 Cal.3d 351, this Court relied on Peacock Hills Assn. to validate retroactively a notice of appeal filed while the corporation was suspended. The corporation had been suspended during trial, and the suspension continued through appeal until 20 days after the suspension was mentioned in the "plaintiff's brief" (presumably the Respondent's Brief). Id. at 359.

This Court rejected plaintiffs' motion to dismiss the defendant corporation's appeal, stating:

The revival of corporate powers validated the procedural steps taken on behalf of the corporation while it was under suspension and permitted it to proceed with the appeal. [citing Peacock Hills Assn.]

Rooney, supra, 10 Cal.3d at 359.

Contrary to respondents' claim, this ruling needs no "clarification."

4. Appellate courts retroactively validate all procedural steps.

Appellate courts have placed no limits on their power to retroactively validate a corporation's procedural steps taken before the suspended corporation paid its taxes and was reinstated. Specifically, corporate revivor has been held to retroactively validates the following actions taken during litigation:

- Obtaining an attachment (A.E. Cook Co. V. K S Racing Enterprises, Inc. (1969) 274 Cal.App.2d 499, 500-501).
- Applying for and obtaining a use permit (Benton v. County of Napa (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1485, 1492.
- Making and opposing motions and engaging in discovery (*Diverco Constructors, Inc. v. Wilstein* (1970) 4 Cal.App.3d 6, 12).
- Opposing a default judgment (Schwartz v. Magyar House, Inc. (1959) 168 Cal.App.2d 182, 189-190.) Schwartz ruled that taking of a default judgment against a suspended corporate defendant disabled from defending is not a "right" within the meaning of Revenue & Taxation Code section 23305a that accrued to the plaintiff and could be prejudiced by subsequent reinstatement. (Id. at p. 190.)

5. Differing treatment of complaints and notices of appeal is justified by the "substantive/procedural" distinction.

This Court and others often cite the "substantive/procedural" distinction to justify the difference in refusing retroactive validation to complaints despite revivor while retroactively validating procedural steps because of revivor.

a. Supreme court.,

This Court in *Traub* recognized that where the complaint was filed by a suspended corporation, the case raised a "statute of limitations problem." *Traub*, supra, at p. 371 (citing Cleveland v. Gore Bros., Inc. (1936) 14 Cal.App.2d 681).

b. Appellate courts.

Appellate courts often rely on the "substantive/procedural" distinction to explain the disparate treatment given to complaints as compared to all other procedural steps.

Most recently, in Friends of Shingle Springs Interchange, Inc. v. County of El Dorado (2011) 200 Cal. App. 4th 1470, an appellate court affirmed a judgment of dismissal, refusing to retroactively validate a complaint filed by a suspended corporation, even though the corporation had later paid its taxes and obtained revivor. The court characterized the defense created by the failure to obtain revivor within the statute of limitations as "substantive":

"The failure timely to file the litigation within the statute of limitations has been held (in the context of corporate suspension) to be a substantive defense that is not prejudiced by subsequent corporate revivor (Benton, supra, 226 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1490-1491)."

Id. at 1494.

Benton v. Napa (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1485, explained the difference between procedural actions (which are retroactively validated) and "substantive

defenses, such as the statute of limitations, are not revived." *Id.* at p. 1491. *Benton* stated:

The cases have created a distinction between procedural and substantive acts. The revival of corporate powers validates any procedural step taken on behalf of the corporation while it was under suspension. (Rooney v. Vermont Investment Corp. (1973) 10 Cal.3d 351, 359,[appeal]; see Urich Oil Co. v. Crown Discount Dept. Stores (1973) 34 Cal.App.3d 743, 746 [appeal]; see also Peacock Hill Assn. v. Peacock Lagoon Constr. Co. (1972) 8 Cal.3d 369, 371,; Welco Construction, Inc. v. Modulux, Inc. (1975) 47 Cal.App.3d 69, 72.) Procedural acts in the prosecution or defense of a lawsuit are validated retroactively by corporate revival. Most litigation activity has been characterized as procedural for purposes of corporate revival.

Id. at p. 1490.

By contrast, substantive defenses that have accrued bar retroactive validation, as *Benton* explained:

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